STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Union County
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-205207

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

vs.

RANDY JARROD CROSBY

APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734- 3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion because, under the totality of the circumstances, the officers possessed reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop and probable cause to search the vehicle in which Appellant was a passenger after they received reliable information from a cooperating informant about the informant's crack cocaine supplier and corroborated significant aspects of that information prior to conducting the stop and search of the crack cocaine supplier's vehicle.

II.

The trial judge properly admitted both the scale and the crack cocaine into evidence during trial because testimony was presented establishing that the scale offered into evidence was the one located in the search of the black Ford Expedition and was in substantially unchanged condition and because testimony was presented establishing the identity of each person who was in custody of the crack cocaine and what was done with it prior to the analysis of the crack cocaine at S.L.E.D.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2010, Appellant Randy Jarrod Crosby was arrested along with two other men following a narcotics investigation and automobile stop. In August of 2010, the Union County grand jury indicted Appellant for one count of trafficking in crack cocaine in an amount between ten and twenty-eight grams. On December 6, 2011, a jury trial was commenced in the Union County court of general sessions with the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of trial two days later, the jury convicted Appellant of the lesser-included offense of possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to a fifteen-year term of imprisonment suspended to ten years and five years of probation. At the conclusion of the sentencing proceedings, Appellant moved for reconsideration of his sentence, and the trial judge took the motion under advisement. Thereafter, on December 15, 2011, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. Subsequently, on January 12, 2012, the trial judge denied Appellant's motion for reconsideration of his sentence.¹

¹ The other men arrested with Appellant, Roderick Pope and Lashad Demond Brewton, were also indicted for one count each of trafficking in crack cocaine in an amount between ten and twenty-eight grams, and both men were tried together with Appellant. Like Appellant, Pope and Brewton were convicted of possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute, and the trial judge sentenced Pope to a fifteen-year term of imprisonment suspended to seven-and-a-half years and five years of probation and Brewton to a ten-year term of imprisonment suspended to five years and five years of probation. Also like Appellant, both men moved for reconsideration of their sentences. Subsequently, the trial judge denied Pope's motion, granted Brewton's motion, and resented Brewton to a ten-year term of imprisonment suspended to thirty months and five years of probation.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of June 24, 2010, a confidential informant working with the Union County Sheriff's Office purchased crack cocaine from an individual he knew as "Vince" at a convenience store located off of Highway 176 in Union County while law enforcement officers covertly monitored the transaction. (R. pp. 14-15; pp. 27-28; p. 46; pp. 92-93; p. 118; pp. 169-170; pp. 219-220; p. 223; p. 305; p. 325). Once the transaction was completed, the officers moved in and arrested "Vince," who was subsequently identified as Vinson Eugene Harris, and his wife for distribution of crack cocaine. (R. pp. 14-15; pp. 27-28; p. 46; pp. 92-93; p. 118; pp. 169-170; pp. 219-220; p. 305; p. 325).

After Harris and his wife were arrested, they were transported to the Union County jail, and Harris asked to speak with a law enforcement officer. (R. p. 99; pp. 305-306; p. 318; pp. 324-326). Following Harris' request, Sergeant James Johnson, a narcotics investigator with the Union County Sheriff's Office, went to meet with Harris, and Harris advised the officer that he needed to obtain bond so he could go to work the next day. (R. p. 15; pp. 93-94; pp. 99-100; p. 306; p. 318; pp. 324-327). In exchange for assistance in obtaining bond, Harris offered to arrange for Roderick Pope, his narcotics supplier, to bring crack cocaine to Union County. (R. p. 15; pp. 93-94; pp. 99-100; p. 306; p. 318; pp. 324-327). In response, Sergeant Johnson accepted Harris' offer, returned Harris' cell phone to him, and notified Lieutenant John Sherfield of the Union County Sheriff's Office about the arrangement.² (R. pp. 15-16; pp. 65-66; p. 93; p. 97; p. 327).

Subsequently, with Sergeant Johnson present, Harris called Pope to arrange for the delivery of crack cocaine, and Pope indicated he would attempt to get some crack

² Harris' cell phone was returned to him because Harris indicated that he needed to use his own phone in order to be able to arrange a narcotics transaction with Pope because Pope would not answer a phone call from an unknown number. (R. pp. 65-66; p. 93).

cocaine for Harris.³ (R. p. 16; pp. 93-94; pp. 306-307; p. 326; p. 328). Shortly thereafter, Pope called Harris back, and the two agreed for Pope to drive to Union County from Spartanburg County along Highway 176, meet Harris at a convenience store located off of the highway, and deliver half of an ounce of crack cocaine to Harris in exchange for \$650. (R. p. 181; pp. 246-248; pp. 307-308; pp. 329-331). Following the call, Harris informed Sergeant Johnson of the details of the arranged transaction and noted that Pope always drove or rode in a black Ford Expedition, and Sergeant Johnson relayed those details to Lieutenant Sherfield. (R. p. 17; p. 96; pp. 113-114; pp. 308-309; p. 330).

In response, Lieutenant Sherfield and other officers with the Union County Sheriff's Office set up surveillance at various points along Highway 176 to wait for the black Ford Expedition to arrive. (R. p. 17; p. 176). Meanwhile, Harris and Pope continued to exchange phone calls, and Harris updated Sergeant Johnson with the information he received from Pope, which Sergeant Johnson then provided to the other officers.⁴ (R. p. 97; p. 176). During one of the calls, Pope informed Harris that he was passing the Lighthouse Fish Camp on Highway 176 and entering Union County, and that information was passed along to the officers conducting surveillance along the highway. (R. p. 18; p. 97; p. 308; p. 330).

Following the update about Pope's location, Captain James McNeil of the Union County Sheriff's Office began driving in the direction of the Lighthouse Fish Camp. (R. pp. 257-258). Shortly thereafter, Captain McNeil encountered a black Ford Expedition driving in the opposite direction on Highway 176 and going into Union County

³ Sergeant Johnson was only able to hear Harris speaking during Harris' conversations with Pope and could not hear Pope's side of the conversations. (R. p. 107).

⁴ During the calls, Harris noted that he could hear other individuals in the background in addition to Pope. (R. p. 26; p. 72; pp. 95-96; p. 308).

approximately a mile to a mile and a half before McNeil would have reached the Lighthouse Fish Camp and after the black Ford Expedition would have passed the restaurant. (R. p. 258; p. 268; p. 271). Upon seeing the black Ford Expedition, Captain McNeil immediately relayed the vehicle's location to the other officers involved in the investigation and turned around to follow it. (R. p. 258). Moments later, Union County Sheriff David Taylor saw the black Ford Expedition approaching his position on Highway 176, and he turned around to follow it while activating his blue lights. (R. p. 19; pp. 79-80; pp. 178-179). In response to the blue lights, the passenger in the back seat of the vehicle leaned forward, and the driver of the vehicle momentarily continued to drive along Highway 176 before partially pulling over into the median of the highway approximately two miles away from the location where Harris had arranged for Pope to meet him. (R. pp. 19-20; p. 30; p. 179).

After the driver of the black Ford Expedition pulled over, several officers responded to the scene, and Lieutenant Sherfield approached the driver's side of the vehicle. (R. p. 19; p. 179). When he did so, he saw Lashad Demond Brewton seated in the driver's seat, Pope seated in the front passenger's seat with a cell phone in his hand, and Appellant Randy Jarrod Crosby seated in the rear passenger's seat. (R. pp. 19-20; pp. 179-180; p. 241). The officer then asked Brewton to step out of the vehicle, spoke with him briefly, advised him of his rights, placed him in handcuffs, and let him know that he was being detained. (R. p. 24; p. 34; p. 180). Meanwhile, other officers removed Appellant and Pope from the vehicle and similarly secured them. (R. p. 34; p. 58; p. 180).

Once the men were secured, Lieutenant Sherfield searched the passenger compartment of the black Ford Expedition.⁵ (R. p. 20; p. 180). Inside, he found a cell phone on Pope's seat and a gray digital scale without a battery cover and with white residue on it hidden underneath the seat that Appellant had been sitting in at the time of the stop.⁶ (R. pp. 20-21; p. 71; p. 181; p. 241). Upon finding the scale, Lieutenant Sherfield conducted a field test on the white residue, and the residue tested positive for cocaine.⁷ (R. pp. 20-21). In response, he immediately arrested Appellant and the others for possession of cocaine.⁸ (R. p. 21; p. 181). The officers then briefly searched the men's outer clothing and located \$573 in cash on Appellant and a cell phone and \$280 in cash on Brewton.⁹ (R. pp. 21-23; pp. 34-35; pp. 68-69; pp. 181-182; p. 199; p. 248; pp. 259-260; p. 264).

After Appellant and his co-defendants were arrested and searched, Lieutenant Sherfield asked Corporal Russell Vinson of the Union County Sheriff's Office, another officer involved in the narcotics investigation, to inspect the back area of his law

⁵ The black Ford Expedition was subsequently determined to be registered to Barbara Pope, an individual with the same last name as Pope. (R. p. 230).

⁶ Following the automobile stop, Lieutenant Sherfield inspected Pope's cell phone and discovered that the phone contained contact information for an individual named "Vince." (R. p. 190). Furthermore, Lieutenant Sherfield discovered that the phone's records reflected that "Vince" called Pope five times between 4:39 p.m. and 6:04 p.m. on the day of the automobile stop and that Pope called "Vince" eleven times between 5:18 p.m. and 6:33 p.m. on the day of the stop. (R. pp. 192-194).

⁷ The scale was subsequently transported to the Union County drug task force office and secured in a locked evidence cabinet with similar evidence until Appellant and his co-defendants' trial. (R. pp. 22-23; pp. 36-38).

⁸ Subsequent to the arrests, Sergeant Johnson spoke to a magistrate about Harris' assistance with the narcotics investigation, and Harris was able to obtain release on bond. (R. p. 98; p. 100; pp. 104-105; p. 309; pp. 331-333). Harris later pled guilty to distribution of crack cocaine and was sentenced to a three-year term of incarceration, which he was serving at the time of Appellant and his co-defendants' trial. (R. p. 118; pp. 309-310).

⁹ After the money was discovered during the search, Brewton refused to reveal how he acquired it but confirmed to Lieutenant Sherfield that he was unemployed. (R. p. 23; p. 25).

enforcement vehicle before transporting Appellant and Brewton to the Union County jail. (R. p. 182; pp. 273-274). Corporal Vinson complied with Lieutenant Sherfield's request, found nothing inside of his vehicle, and then transported Appellant and Brewton to the jail. (R. pp. 274-275). Once he had done so, Corporal Vinson searched his vehicle and discovered a small plastic bag containing what appeared to be crack cocaine hidden underneath the seat that Appellant had been sitting in. (R. p. 59; p. 76; p. 184; p. 236; pp. 275-276; pp. 282-283). Corporal Vinson then secured the bag, and the substance was later transported to S.L.E.D. for analysis, where it was determined to be eleven-and-a-half grams of crack cocaine.¹⁰ (R. p. 62; p. 77; pp. 184-185; 275-276; pp. 279-280; pp. 355-356).

Subsequently, Appellant and his co-defendants were indicted for trafficking in crack cocaine in an amount between ten and twenty-eight grams, and they jointly proceeded to trial. (R. p. 4; pp. 484-485). At the outset of trial, Appellant, Pope, and Brewton all moved for the trial judge to suppress the evidence discovered during and after the automobile stop and search, and the trial judge conducted a hearing on their suppression motions. (R. pp. 5-6; pp. 10-14). During the hearing, Lieutenant Sherfield, Sergeant Johnson, and the other officers testified about the details of Harris' arrest, the subsequent stop and search of the black Ford Expedition, and the discovery of the crack cocaine in the vehicle used to transport Appellant and Brewton to the jail. (R. pp. 14-20; p. 59; pp. 92-98). During Lieutenant Sherfield's testimony, he asserted that the vehicle was stopped after Captain McNeil spotted a black Ford Expedition "right at" the Lighthouse Fish Camp following Harris' report that Pope was travelling past that location. (R. pp. 16-20; pp. 25-26; p. 46; p. 72). Furthermore, Lieutenant Sherfield noted

¹⁰ One half of an ounce is approximately fourteen grams. (R. p. 246).

that the scale he found during his search of the vehicle did not have a battery cover at the time it was seized, indicated that one of the batteries from the scale had fallen out prior to the trial, stated that the scale's evidence bag had broken prior to trial, and admitted that he incorrectly asserted on a chain of custody affidavit that he seized the crack cocaine from Appellant, Pope, and Brewton when, in fact, he actually took custody of the narcotics from Corporal Vinson. (R. pp. 36-38; p. 59; pp. 61-62; pp. 71-72; pp. 76-77).

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, Appellant and his co-defendants moved for the evidence discovered as a result of the automobile stop to be suppressed, arguing that there was no reasonable suspicion supporting the stop of the black Ford Expedition and no probable cause supporting the search of the vehicle. (R. pp. 123-125; p. 127; pp. 130-131; pp. 133-134; pp. 136-137). Furthermore, Appellant and the others challenged the chain of custody regarding the scale found during the search of the vehicle, and Pope argued that there was no evidence that he or the other defendants were in actual or constructive possession of the crack cocaine located in Corporal Vinson's vehicle following their arrest. (R. pp. 125-126; pp. 132-133; p. 137).

In response, the solicitor noted that Harris arranged a drug transaction with Pope and provided law enforcement officers with information that was subsequently corroborated regarding Pope's vehicle color, vehicle make, vehicle model, direction of travel, and precise location at a specific time. (R. pp. 138-140). Under those circumstances, the solicitor argued that the officers had probable cause to believe drugs would be located in the black Ford Expedition, justifying the stop and search of that vehicle. (R. pp. 138-140). Additionally, regarding the challenge to the admissibility of the scale, the solicitor noted that the arguments raised by the defendants regarding the

chain of custody could potentially impact the weight of the evidence but did not affect its admissibility. (R. pp. 140-141).

Following the arguments of counsel, the trial judge took the matter under advisement to consider the motions overnight. (R. pp. 142-143). Thereafter, on the following morning, the trial judge denied the suppression motions. (R. p. 157). In denying the motions, the trial judge found that the law enforcement officers' corroboration of the information provided by Harris regarding Pope's vehicle make, vehicle model, vehicle color, direction of travel, and specific location established probable cause to believe contraband would be contained in the vehicle, which justified the stop and the search. (R. pp. 157-160; pp. 162-163). Furthermore, the trial judge declined to suppress the scale based on the alleged issue with the chain of custody after finding the scale was not a fungible item. (R. pp. 160-161). Finally, the trial judge declined to suppress the crack cocaine found in the law enforcement vehicle following the arrests of Appellant, Pope, and Brewton. (R. p. 161; pp. 163-165).

Subsequently, during trial, Lieutenant Sherfield testified about Harris' arrest and the ensuing investigation that led to the arrests of Appellant, Pope, and Brewton, the discovery of a scale in the black Ford Expedition, and the discovery of a bag of crack cocaine in the vehicle used to transport Appellant and Brewton to jail. (R. pp. 169-170; pp. 175-186). Regarding the crack cocaine, Lieutenant Sherfield indicated that he received the crack cocaine from Corporal Vinson, sealed it in an evidence bag, secured the bag in an evidence vault, and then subsequently transported the bag to the evidence intake area at S.L.E.D. where he delivered the crack cocaine to Nikki Perry, an evidence technician. (R. pp. 184-187). Additionally, Lieutenant Sherfield acknowledged that he incorrectly listed on a chain of custody affidavit that he seized the crack cocaine from

Appellant, Pope, and Brewton when he actually received it from Corporal Vinson. (R. pp. 213-214). Furthermore, in regard to the scale, Lieutenant Sherfield identified the scale, which he stated was an item commonly used in the drug trade, as the one he found under Appellant's seat in the black Ford Expedition and noted that a battery was currently missing from the scale, and the scale was admitted into evidence over the objection of Appellant and his co-defendants. (R. pp. 187-189).

In addition to Lieutenant Sherfield's testimony, Captain McNeil testified about his role in the narcotics investigation and automobile stop, noting that he received word that a black Ford Expedition was passing the Lighthouse Fish Camp, he immediately began driving in the direction of the restaurant, and he encountered a black Ford Expedition at an intersection on Highway 176 approximately a mile to a mile and a half away from the restaurant. (R. pp. 257-258; p. 268; p. 271). Furthermore, Corporal Vinson testified about his role in the investigation and noted that he responded to the location of the automobile stop after the black Ford Expedition had been detained. (R. pp. 273-274). After he arrived, Corporal Vinson stated that Lieutenant Sherfield asked him to check the rear area of his vehicle before transporting two of the suspects to jail and that he complied with the lieutenant's request. (R. pp. 274-275). Corporal Vinson indicated he then transported Appellant and Brewton to jail and searched the back of his vehicle after dropping them off. (R. p. 275). When he did so, Corporal Vinson testified that he found a bag of crack cocaine hidden underneath Appellant's seat, secured the drugs in an evidence bag, and gave them to Lieutenant Sherfield when the lieutenant arrived at the jail. (R. pp. 275-276; pp. 279-280; pp. 282-283).

Following the officers' testimony, Appellant and his co-defendants renewed their motions for the crack cocaine to be suppressed on the basis that they believed the

testimony from the suppression hearing differed from the trial testimony regarding where the black Ford Expedition was first observed. (R. pp. 293-294; pp. 299-300). In response, the solicitor argued that Captain McNeil saw the black Ford Expedition on the same highway that the Lighthouse Fish Camp was located on approximately one mile after the vehicle would have passed the restaurant, which he asserted corroborated the information provided by Harris about the location of Appellant's vehicle at that time. (R. pp. 295-296). Thereafter, the trial judge denied the motions, concluding that he would not have suppressed the narcotics had he been provided with Captain McNeil's trial testimony during the suppression hearing. (R. p. 297; p. 300). In reaching that conclusion, the trial judge noted the fact that the black Ford Expedition was observed approximately a mile away from the location that Harris reported that the vehicle had just passed sufficiently corroborated Harris' information. (R. pp. 300-301).

Subsequently, Sergeant Johnson testified about Harris' arrest and his resulting offer to assist their investigation by arranging for Pope to bring half of an ounce of crack cocaine to Union County. (R. pp. 325-327; p. 331). Sergeant Johnson indicated that Harris then provided him with information derived from phone calls Harris made to Pope and that he relayed that information to Lieutenant Sherfield. (R. pp. 327-330).

Specifically, Sergeant Johnson noted that he advised Lieutenant Sherfield that Pope would be travelling in a black Ford Expedition along with other people and that he notified Lieutenant Sherfield when Pope passed the Lighthouse Fish Camp. (R. p. 330).

Furthermore, after the automobile stop was made, Sergeant Johnson testified that he spoke to a magistrate on Harris' behalf regarding bond, which led to bond being set for Harris. (R. pp. 332-333).

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