STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
NOV 21 2013
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Union County
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-205207

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RANDY JARROD CROSBY,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

light of his earlier arrest for distributing crack cocaine, the officers were fully justified in accepting Harris' statements about his narcotics supplier, which he logically had to have in order to successfully serve as a crack cocaine dealer. See Blich, 747 S.E.2d at 866 (“Webb’s basis of knowledge was self-evident because, as a seller of cocaine, he would necessarily have a source that supplied him with cocaine and had the means of setting up the drug transaction.”). Under those circumstances, the officers justifiably relied on the information provided by Harris, and Harris’ reliability was sufficiently established to make the officers’ reliance on his information entirely reasonable. See Gates, 462 U.S. at 233 (“[An informant’s veracity and basis of knowledge] are better understood as relevant consideration in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis that traditionally has guided probable cause determinations: a deficiency in one may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.”); see, e.g., State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013) (“The required reasonable suspicion can arise from an anonymous tip provided that the totality of the surrounding circumstances justifies acting on the tip.”).

However, beyond the inherent reliability of Harris’ information itself under the circumstances, the reasonableness of the officers’ actions in conducting the investigatory stop and search was established by the officers’ corroboration of significant aspects of the information provided by Harris **before** they acted on that information. Critically, prior to the stop, Harris informed the officers that Pope would be travelling in a black Ford Expedition on Highway 176 and would be coming into Union County towards a convenience store located off of the highway. Thereafter, as the officers waited along the highway for the described vehicle to arrive, Harris informed the officers that Pope had just driven past the Lighthouse Fish Camp. Moments later, the officers observed a black

Ford Expedition driving into Union County along Highway 176 approximately a mile to a mile and half after it would have passed the Lighthouse Fish Camp and only a few miles away from the location where Harris arranged to meet Pope. Thus, before initiating the investigatory stop of the black Ford Expedition, the officers verified that the vehicle matched the description of the make, model, and color of the vehicle identified by Harris, that the vehicle was travelling towards the location where Pope was supposed to meet Harris, and that it had recently driven by a specific location on the highway that Pope reported he had just passed. See White, 496 U.S. at 332 (“Because only a small number of people are generally privy to an individual’s itinerary, it is reasonable for police to believe that a person with access to such information is likely to also have access to reliable information about that individual’s illegal activities.”); see also Gates, 462 U.S. at 244-245 (“It is enough, for purposes of assessing probable cause, that ‘corroboration through other sources of information reduced the chances of a reckless or prevaricating tale,’ thus providing ‘a substantial basis for crediting the hearsay.’ ” (citation omitted)). Because the officers were able to corroborate those substantial details, including the information regarding the black Ford Expedition’s precise location at a specific time, it was entirely reasonable for the officers to believe that Harris was also correct when he indicated that Pope was involved in criminal activity and that crack cocaine would be found in the black Ford Expedition. See White, 496 U.S. at 331 (“[B]ecause an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity.”); see also State v. Martinez, 150 N.C. App. 364, 369, 562 S.E.2d 914, 917 (N.C. Ct. App. 2002) (“Although Goff was not a known informant, the officers independently verified the information that he provided to them. Based on Goff’s

information and the officers' independent verification of that information, the officers had probable cause to believe that defendant and Zavala were committing a felony in their presence."); see. e.g., Gates, 462 U.S. at 241 ("Our decisions applying the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis . . . have consistently recognized the value of corroboration of details of an informant's tip by independent police work."). As a result, the investigatory stop of Pope's vehicle and the ensuing search were entirely reasonable under the circumstances.

However, further supporting the reasonableness of the search, the officers further corroborated the information provided by Harris after initiating the stop but before conducting the search. Specifically, upon approaching the black Ford Expedition, the officers saw multiple people inside of the vehicle just as Harris had reported and observed Pope with a cell phone in his hand, which was entirely consistent with the fact that Pope was speaking to Harris on the phone shortly before the stop was initiated. See United States v. Draper, 358 U.S. 307, 313-314 (1959) ("Marsh[, the narcotics agent,] had personally verified every fact of the information given him by Hereford[, the informant,] except whether the petitioner had accomplished his mission and had three ounces of heroin on his person or in his bag. And surely, with every other bit of Hereford's information being thus personally verified, March had 'reasonable grounds' to believe that the remaining unverified bit of Hereford's information – that Draper would have the heroin with him – was likewise true. . . . [U]nder the facts and circumstances here, Marsh had probable cause and reasonable grounds to believe that petitioner was committing a violation of the laws of the United States relating to narcotic drugs at the time he arrested him."). Thus, just like in Blich, the corroboration of the significant details of the information provided by Harris after Harris identified Pope as his narcotics

supplier gave the officers a probable cause basis to believe that crack cocaine would be located in the black Ford Expedition. See Harris, 403 U.S. at 583-584 (finding an admission by an informant of involvement in a crime is “sufficient at least to support a finding of probable cause to search”); see also State v. Foreshaw, 245 N.J. Super 166, 175, 584 A.2d 832, 836 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1991) (“After receiving the informer’s tip, the officers properly corroborated the data provided. Just as the informer had predicted, the officers observed a silver-gray Eldorado bearing New Jersey license plates traveling southbound on the Turnpike. Inside the vehicle were two males and a female. As was also foretold, the vehicle exited the highway at Exit 4 and headed towards Camden. Once the officers established that the informant had been correct, they had probable cause to believe that defendants’ car contained contraband and as such properly stopped and searched the vehicle.”); Lopez, 292 Ga. App. at 522, 664 S.E.2d at 869 (“Here the informant told police in advance the make, approximate model year, and color of the car the supplier would be driving, the location at which the car would be arriving, the gender of the supplier who would be driving the vehicle, and the time of the vehicle's arrival (the supplier would arrive within moments after the informant received the phone call). Police were able to personally witness and corroborate each of these details, which lent credibility to the informant's claim that the supplier was bringing drugs to the location.”). Under those circumstances, the officers’ decisions to stop and search the vehicle and its occupants, including Appellant, were entirely reasonable and were supported by both reasonable suspicion and probable cause.

In light of the fact that the officers corroborated the information provided to them by an informant who could be held responsible if he was found to have given them false information, the officers were in possession of sufficient facts to establish reasonable

suspicion and probable cause, which justified the investigatory stop and search of the black Ford Expedition. Compare State v. Rogers, 396 S.C. 529, 535-536, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682-683 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding an investigatory stop was supported by reasonable suspicion where “the officer received the information from a known, accountable informant whose reputation could be assessed and who explained how he knew about the planned robbery, thereby supplying a basis, outside of his already proven reliability for [the officer] to believe the confidential informant had inside information on the matter.”); with State v. Green, 341 S.C. 214, 218, 532 S.E.2d 896, 898 (Ct. App. 2000) (finding an investigatory stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion where “[t]he only information available to the officer was the statement of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he knew about the money and narcotics, nor supplied any basis for the officer to believe he had inside information about Green”). Just like the officers in White, the officers’ decision to conduct the stop in Appellant’s case was entirely reasonable and did not violate Appellant’s constitutional rights even though the officers were not able to verify that Appellant was in possession of crack cocaine until after the stop was conducted. Cf. White, 496 U.S. at 331 (finding an investigatory stop was constitutionally permissible based on the officers’ corroboration of several pieces of information provided by an anonymous caller even though the officers did not verify the reported name of the woman who got into the vehicle, did not verify the reported apartment number from which the woman left, and did not allow the woman to reach her reported destination prior to conducting the stop). Likewise, just like the officers in Blicht, the officers’ decision to search the vehicle in the case at bar was reasonable and was supported by probable cause based on the officers’ corroboration of the information provided by Harris in regard to his crack cocaine supplier. See Blicht,

747 S.E.2d at 866 (holding that officers had probable cause to search Blich's vehicle after an informant identified Blich as his cocaine supplier and arranged a drug transaction with Blich and then the officers observed Blich arrive at the location where the transaction was supposed to take place around the time it was supposed to take place in a vehicle matching the description of the one he was supposed to be driving); see also Gates, 462 U.S. at 246 (“[P]robable cause does not demand the certainty we associate with formal trials.”). Because the investigatory stop and search were entirely reasonable, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion, and his ruling was fully supported by the evidence presented during trial. See Foster, 269 S.C. at 378, 237 S.E.2d at 591 (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (“When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly admitted both the scale and the crack cocaine into evidence during trial because testimony was presented establishing that the scale offered into evidence was the one located in the search of the black Ford Expedition and was in substantially unchanged condition and because testimony was presented establishing the identity of each person who was in custody of the crack cocaine and what was done with it prior to the analysis of the crack cocaine at S.L.E.D.

Appellant contends that the trial judge erred in admitting the scale and the crack cocaine into evidence during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains that a sufficient chain of custody was not established in regard to the scale because the scale was kept in a drawer with other scales, the original evidence bag containing the scale broke, and one of the scale's batteries was lost. Appellant further maintains that the chain of custody regarding the crack cocaine was not sufficient because an officer listed incorrect information on a chain of custody affidavit. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, a chain of custody did not have to be established because the scale was a non-fungible item. Before it could be admitted into evidence during trial, the scale simply had to be identified as the scale taken in the search and be in substantially unchanged condition, and testimony was presented satisfying both of those prerequisites. However, even if the establishment of a chain of custody was required, the testimony presented during trial fully established who was in custody of the scale and what happened to it prior to trial. Likewise, the testimony presented during trial established the identity of each person who was in custody of the crack cocaine and what was done with it prior to the analysis of the crack cocaine at S.L.E.D. Accordingly, a complete chain of custody was established in regard to the crack cocaine. For those reasons, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting both the scale and the crack cocaine into evidence during trial. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The reception or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980). On appeal, appellate courts give “great deference” to trial judges when reviewing evidentiary rulings. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010); see State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) (“[D]eference is due to the trial court’s admission of the evidence.”). Moreover, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the trial judge’s broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

ANALYSIS

“The ‘chain of custody’ rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to its admission into evidence.” United States v. Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982). “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simple to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011); see Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d at

366 (“The purpose of this threshold requirement is to establish that the item to be introduced, i.e., marijuana, is what it purports to be, i.e., marijuana seized from the ‘Don Frank.’ ”). Notably, “[c]ourts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts.” Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 94, 708 S.E.2d at 754.

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